IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

Eleanor Ahem 

Appellant, 	 I Supreme Court No. 72897  

Vs. 	 District Court No. 066426  

Brownstein  Hyatt Farber Schrick 

Respondent. 

APPELLANT'S INFORMAL BRIEF 

INSTRUCTIONS:  If you are an appellant proceeding pro se c(without an 

attorney) in the Nevada Supreme Court, you must file either (1) a brief that 

complies with Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) 28(a), or (2) a 

completed copy of this informal brief form, see NR.AP 28(k), with the Nevada 

Supreme Court on or before the due date, see NRAP 31. In civil appeals, if 

you do not file one of these documents by the due date, the Neciada Supreme

Statement of District Court Error. Explain why you believe the district 

court was wrong. Also state what action you want the Nevada Suprenie Court 

to take. (Your answer must be provided in the space allowed). 

These are my reasons why th 

e never asked 

or any documentation to prove Fred's words against me and the Rushforth Firm 	were to my 	understanding 
workin • with Frne amiciaire_an. ams 	Beelatirscry Frorsv y rus was written and Mark Solomon's 

Petition Reconstruction of my Trust and Judge Ritchie s Order, I believe under a new Judge. I believe my 
Trust would be rphimed to me. In both of thebt documents, I had to die first and thy daughters had to die 

before Marjorie would ever be in the flow of money. I gave my  adopted mother 65% because she had no incomear 

his family hihIP, I would alwaya take t-cue of Marjorie bhe made the same vow to thy father about taking care of 

me but Marjorie did not I kept my vow and did take care of her She had nothing to give away 	-I never 

oney. There was enouth for me to be giving and nice. - 

Judge Sturman believed eve 

lie told to her by Fred Waid, Te 
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Marjorie did create $3,500,000 which me generaiRn tram me oz 	 EIVallE 

She said through the years she would give it all to me. This her will gave to my two daughers. 
Marjorie firmly believed and said s  
hired an International Forensic Handwriting Expert to prove the will was fordged. 
He was in the courtroom for 	 filnafeH-tel 

No deed was ever transferred animeiamanarie-e 

The lies from Fred Waid T 	• • , - 	• F 	 ■ , . 	11 GTO - prove a 	ree were 
working together to remove me from my Trust my father gave me. Trust Two is the Residual Income Beneficiary's 
Trust. Confirmed and reaffirmed 	• - : . - .. - 	- - 	 . . • 	. ring nice, 
oni—TRiTiment, I never should have allowed my daughters to have any money after Marjorie died. I did not have 

to continue the payment  of the 65%. Ther 	 ,.. . • , 

	

- • . • 	- • • • • •• , - , 	: :-...; - 	 ughters. , 
-MatibilrWarli=71.. AUTHORITY to give away my land and royalty assets during my lifetime, 

Is it possibly for you to demand nf Arinrney Kirk Lonhard to give ■ 1 le d CAM ip1ete copy ot my tile? I had requestd 
in writing to Judge Sturman please do ot let Kirk Lenhard withdraw with out me getting a complete copy of my 
file created  by the Brownstein Frill  

711.1in-Fid a lawyer. She did NOT honor my plea for her assistance in this matter. 

prents.l 

• • 	- ar WI raw 
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Today 	I am deprived of an 
irk Lenhard tell me he would leave me if I did not sign the last settlement Fred had worked out with my 

daughters without  any inout. I asked to re-.  . • • • - .. - - - 	• - -. 	 not 
written yet and I 	to sign it without reading it.. I said that does not work for me. Alsb Kirk said that 
Fred had arranged with my daughters to et.25y.sofiLLI asseta_Again-Lsaid-that-sloes-not-wefitfor -me. 

I 
When Kirk first met Fred Waid.Temorary  Trustee, Kirk told Fred he knous Fred is going to try to 
scpcnatc me from my ctient Kirk told -Fred-that was NOT going to happen. Well not gettirig paid for all of 2015 
certainly caused Kirk to withdraw. 

Fred Waid is not respected by his peers. He has a repretation of gettin a hold of the be, - - • - 	ets 
•••••ii 	artisan rim Eau a 	eir is an attorney in Las Vegas who has four or 

a 
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five different clients. This man C :me. II - .. II a - • 	t - : - - 7 . : 

	

. 	 Et0 o neip 

clients who havve been swindled by Fred Waid. This attorneys name is Mort Tanner. When he called 
he told me he had talked to Fred Waid anc 	 ml-wettle-Delramwacriaav 3 an-i min Mon' Tr 

from my i rust. It would be another attorney in the pocket of Fred Waid and I said no thank you. 
1 

DATED this _ i day of  November  , 20_44. 

P_P,4//iyeL,  
Signature of Appellant 

Eleanor Ahem, Pro se  

Print Name of Appellant