#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \*

ELEANOR AHERN,

**Electronically Filed** Supreme Court No.: D8026 2017 11:14 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Appellant,

District Court Case No erk of Supreme Court

P-09-066425-T

VS.

**BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER** SCHRECK, LLP,

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Gloria

**Sturman Presiding** 

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

#### BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

Kirk B. Lenhard, Esq., NV Bar No. 1437

klenhard@bhfs.com

100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 Las Vegas, NV 89106-4614

Telephone: 702.382.2101

Facsimile: 702.382.8135

Attorneys for Respondent Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court's Order granting BHFS' Motion to Adjudicate was well-reasoned and supported by the record. Not only did the Court properly find that the Lien can attach to Ms. Ahern's beneficial interest in the Trust, but it appropriately analyzed each of the *Brunzell* factors and found that BHFS' fees were reasonable in light of the same. As such, there is no basis in law or fact to disturb this Order, and Ms. Ahern has failed to articulate any such basis. The Order and Judgment should, therefore, be affirmed in their entirety.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A district court's award of attorney fees will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion." *Frantz v. Johnson*, 116 Nev. 455, 471, 999 P.2d 351, 361 (2000) (citing *Nelson v. Peckham Plaza Partnerships*, 110 Nev. 23, 26, 866 P.2d 1138, 1139-40 (1994)).

Here, Ms. Ahern appears to be challenging the reasonableness of BHFS' fees insomuch as she contends that she should not be responsible to pay fees incurred after BHFS withdrew as her counsel. As such, the District Court's Order should only be disturbed if this Court finds that the District Court manifestly abused its discretion, which it did not.

#### VIII. ARGUMENT

While it is unclear from Ms. Ahern's Informal Brief what her grounds are for challenging the District Court's Judgment and attorney's fee award, she appears to be arguing that the Court should reverse the District Court's Order because she should not be required to pay any fees to BHFS for services rendered after BHFS withdrew from representation. (Doc. No. 17-40412).

While the dates of the Withdrawal Motion (November 14, 2016) and the Final Invoice (November 14, 2016) speak for themselves and evidence that Ms. Ahern is not, in fact, being asked to pay for any fees that were incurred *after* BHFS withdrew from representation, in an abundance of caution, BHFS addresses herein the reasonableness of its fees, in their entirety, and the fact that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the Order and Judgment in this matter.

### A. This District Court Had Jurisdiction To Adjudicate BHFS's Lien Rights.

#### 1. Relevant Law.

Nevada recognizes two types of liens: (i) "a special or charging lien on the judgment or settlement [that] the attorney has obtained for the client," which is created by statute, and (ii) "a general or retaining lien, which allows a discharged attorney to withhold the client's file and other property until the court, at the request or consent of the client, adjudicates the client's rights and

obligations with respect to the lien," which is established at common law. *Argentena Consol. Mining Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury & Standish*, 125 Nev. 527, 532, 216 P.3d 779, 782 (2009) (citation omitted). Here, BHFS sought adjudication of a special or charging lien.

Before the District Court can adjudicate such a lien, however, it must establish jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter. That is, this Court has held that "'[a] district court is empowered to render a judgment either for or against a person or entity only if it has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter." *Id.* at 532-33 (quoting *C.H.A. Venture v. G. C. Wallace Consulting*, 106 Nev. 381, 383, 794 P.2d 707, 708 (1990)).

As is relevant here, "[t]he district court's in personam jurisdiction to adjudicate a fee dispute based on a charging lien is derived from the fact that the client has already submitted himself or herself to the court's jurisdiction and the court has personal jurisdiction over the attorney due to the attorney's appearance as the client's counsel of record." *Argentena Consol. Mining Co.*, 125 Nev. at 533 (citing *Earl v. Las Vegas Auto Parts*, 73 Nev. 58, 63, 307 P.2d 781, 783 (1957)).

With regard to subject matter jurisdiction, "the court has in rem jurisdiction to resolve a fee dispute between an attorney and client, which arises from a charging lien, because the attorney's fee 'is recovered on account of the

suit or other action." *Argentena Consol. Mining Co.*, 125 Nev. at 533 (citing NRS 18.015(3)); *see also e.g., Johnston v. Stephens*, 206 Ky. 83, 266 S.W. 881, 882 (Ky. 1924) (stating that "the judgment [with respect to a charging lien] in the absence of pleadings, summons, or entrance of appearance would be in rem only"); *Rhoads v. Sommer*, 401 Md. 131, 931 A.2d 508, 523 (Md. 2007) (concluding that proceedings to enforce charging liens are proceedings in rem); *In re Davis' Estate*, 10 Misc. 2d 347, 169 N.Y.S.2d 983, 989 (N.Y. Sur. Ct. 1957) (same). Consequently, the Court "acquires incidental jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter." *Argentena Consol. Mining Co.*, 125 Nev. at 533 (citing *Earl*, 73 Nev. at 63, 307 P.2d at 783.)

## 2. The District Court properly exercised its jurisdiction to adjudicate BHFS' rights relating to its Lien.

Here, the District Court had both subject matter and personal jurisdiction. First, in personam jurisdiction existed because Ms. Ahern "already submitted...herself to the court's jurisdiction" and attorneys from BHFS appeared in this action as Ms. Ahern's counsel of record. (*See generally*, Appellant's Appendix); *see also Argentena Consol. Mining Co.*, 125 Nev. at 533. Second, the District Court had subject matter jurisdiction to resolve this dispute regarding attorneys' fees because the fees that are the basis for the Lien are recovered on account of the underlying action. (AR 8569-84); see also

Argentena Consol. Mining Co., 125 Nev. at 533. Thus, the District Court had jurisdiction to adjudicate the Lien.

### B. BHFS Satisfied The Procedural Requirements Enumerated By NRS 18.015.

### 1. There are four statutory requirements that must be satisfied.

Because the District Court had jurisdiction over the Lien, the next step is to determine whether BHFS complied with the statutory requirements. Nevada Revised Statute 18.015 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

- 1. An attorney at law shall have a lien:
- (a) Upon any claim, demand or cause of action, including any claim for unliquidated damages, which has been placed in the attorney's hands by a client for suit or collection, or upon which a suit or other action has been instituted.
- (b) In any civil action, upon any file or other property properly left in the possession of the attorney by a client.
- 2. A lien pursuant to subsection 1 is for the amount of any fee which has been agreed upon by the attorney and client. In the absence of an agreement, the lien is for a reasonable fee for the services which the attorney has rendered for the client.
- 3. An attorney perfects a lien described in subsection 1 by serving notice in writing, in person or by certified mail, return receipt requested, upon his or her client and, if applicable, upon the party against whom the client has a cause of action, claiming the lien and stating the amount of the lien.
  - 4. A lien pursuant to:
- (a) Paragraph (a) of subsection 1 attaches to any verdict, judgment or decree entered and to any money or property which is recovered on account of the suit or other action; and

. . .

6. On motion filed by an attorney having a lien under this section, the attorney's client or any party who has been served with notice of the lien, the court shall, after 5 days' notice to all

interested parties, adjudicate the rights of the attorney, client or other parties and enforce the lien.

NRS 18.015(1)-(4) & (6).

This Court has viewed NRS 18.015 as mandating that in order to obtain an attorneys' lien, the following four steps must be taken: (i) there must be a "claim, demand or cause of action, . . . which has been placed in the attorney's hands by a client for suit or collection, or upon which a suit or other action has been instituted," and "[t]he lien is in the amount of the agreed-upon fee or, if none has been agreed upon, a reasonable amount for the services rendered "on account of the suit, claim, demand or action," (ii) "the attorney must perfect the lien by serving "notice in writing, in person or by certified mail, return receipt requested, upon his or her client and upon the party against whom the client has a cause of action, claiming the lien and stating the interest which the attorney has in any cause of action," (iii) once perfected, the "lien attaches to any verdict, judgment or decree entered and to any money or property which is recovered on account of the suit or other action, from the time of service of the notices required by this section," and (iv) "the attorney must timely file and properly serve a motion to adjudicate the lien." Leventhal v. Black & LoBello, 305 P.3d 907, 909 (Nev. 2013).

### 2. BHFS satisfied each of the requisite statutory requirements.

Here, each factor was satisfied. First, the Fee Agreement expressly provides for BHFS to render services for Ms. Ahern in connection with the underlying matter and such other matters that Ms. Ahern may request and BHFS agrees to undertake. (AR 8588-90). Second, BHFS properly perfected its Lien by serving notice of the Lien on Ms. Ahern and all other parties in this action. (AR 8594-8600, 8604-05).

Third, by serving the notices and perfecting the Lien, the Lien against Ms. Ahern attached to any verdict, judgment or decree, any money or property that is recovered, or the corpus of the Trust that is the subject of this action and/or Ms. Ahern's beneficial interest therein that would satisfy the outstanding invoices that Ms. Ahern is required to pay under the Fee Agreement. Fourth, BHFS filed its Motion to Adjudicate asking the Court to adjudicate the Lien in accordance with NRS 18.015(6). (AR 8569-8608). Thus, BHFS satisfied the requisite steps for the Court to adjudicate its rights and enforce the Lien.

## C. The District Court Properly Imposed The Attorney's Lien On Ms. Ahern's Beneficiary Interest In The Trust To Ensure That BHFS Is Timely Paid For Its Outstanding Invoices.

Not only did BHFS satisfy the statutory requirements for obtaining an attorneys' lien, thus providing the District Court with the ability to adjudicate BHFS' rights and to enforce the Lien, but the District Court had the authority to

attach the Lien to Ms. Ahern's beneficial interest in the Trust and to order that distributions to Ms. Ahern made in the future be directly paid to BHFS to satisfy its Lien. *See e.g., Novak v. Fay,* 236 Cal. App. 4th 329, 339 (Cal. Ct. App. 2015) (adjudicating an attorney's fee lien upon assets which were distributed from a trust). As such, the District Court properly found that the Lien could attach to the Trust.

#### D. The Fees BHFS Sought Were Reasonable.

1. This Court has articulated four factors that must be satisfied to demonstrate reasonableness of attorneys' fees.

In addition to meeting the requirements for adjudication of the Lien, BHFS established that its fees were reasonable. As this Court is aware, the reasonableness of BHFS's request for fees and costs is measured by the factors set forth in *Brunzell*, 85 Nev. at 455 P.2d at 33. *See Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp.*, 124 P.3d 530, 549 (Nev. 2005). Specifically, the District Court is to address the following four factors:

- (1) Qualities of the advocate: ability, training, education, experience, professional standing and skill;
- (2) The character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required, the possibility imposed and the prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the litigation;

- (3) The work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention given to the work; and
- (4) The result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.

Brunzell, 85 Nev. at 349, 455 P.2d at 33. This Court has appropriately directed that "good judgment would dictate that each of these factors be given consideration by the trier of fact and that no one element should predominate or be given undue weight." *Id.* at 349-50. As demonstrated in the Motion to Adjudicate and found by the District Court, BHFS' fees and costs which provide the basis of the Lien were reasonable.

#### 2. BHFS satisfied each of the Brunzell factors.

In the Motion to Adjudicate, Mr. Lenhard submitted an affidavit supporting the satisfaction of the *Brunzell* factors. (AR 8572-75). Therein, he testified that the qualities of Brownstein as an advocate are well-known in the community – "By using a team approach to the practice of law, clients benefit from the team experience, training, and knowledge of each member of the firm. This approach was used by BHFS from the moment it was retained." (*See id.*) Mr. Lenhard also provided the Court with a detailed analysis of the ability, training, education, experience, professional standing and skill of counsel who worked on Ms. Ahern's case:

- 10. The work in this matter was primarily performed by me, Tammy Beatty Peterson, Esq. ("Mrs. Peterson") and Benjamin Reitz, Esq. ("Mr. Reitz").
- 11. I have been practicing law since 1975. My practice focuses on commercial and complex litigation, and I have served many high profile clients, including Clark County, McCarran Airport, Republic Services, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department and the City of Henderson. As an experienced trial attorney, I have taken over 175 trials to verdict, and have argued before all courts in the state of Nevada, as well as the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Additionally, I was selected to be a fellow by the American College of Trial Lawyers, an organization comprised only of those lawyers demonstrating unparalleled skill in their practice. I have also been a perennial selection in the Top 75 Mountain State Super Lawyers. My hourly rate is \$595.00.
- 12. Mrs. Peterson's practice focuses on commercial and complex litigation. Representing both individuals and large public and private corporations, her diverse practice encompasses business torts, partnership breakups, breach of contract disputes, class actions and intellectual property disputes. An experienced trial attorney, Tammy has taken over 30 jury trials to verdict, and has successfully argued before all courts in the state of Nevada. Additionally, she has been recognized in *Benchmark Litigation*, the *Mountain States SuperLawyers* and is a fellow with the Litigation Counsel of America. Mrs. Peterson's hourly rate is \$545.00.
- 13. Mr. Reitz focuses his practice on commercial litigation, representing plaintiffs and defendants in multi-party business disputes in state and federal court, including matters involving real estate, contracts, creditors' rights, fraud, fiduciary duties, deceptive trade practices, attorney general inquiries, and appeals in a wide range of industries. He has experience arguing motions and taking depositions, and in seeking the best resolution for his clients both in and out of court. Prior to joining BHFS, Ben worked as an intern for the Honorable Kristina Pickering (then Chief Justice of the Nevada Supreme Court), for the general counsel's office of The Cosmopolitan of Las Vegas, and as a consultant in New York. Mr.

Reitz' hourly rate is \$280.00.

(AR 8573-74). As such, the first factor was satisfied and the District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding the same.

The second factor – the difficulty, intricacy, importance, and the time and skill required in its work – was also satisfied and supported by Mr. Lenhard's Affidavit. As demonstrated in his Affidavit and the Motion to Adjudicate, BHFS researched complex legal issues, drafted numerous pleadings, engaged in voluminous discovery, ultimately defeated a motion to hold Ms. Ahern in contempt, a motion to forfeit her interest in the trust and a motion to impose punitive damages, and appeared in Court on numerous occasions concerning discovery related issues and issues regarding the protection of her attorney client privilege. (AR 8569-8583). This factor, therefore, supports a finding of the reasonableness of BHFS' attorneys' fees. The District Court's Order finding the same was, therefore, not an abuse of discretion.

With regard to the third factor, both the Affidavit of Mr. Lenhard and the Motion to Adjudicate set forth (i) that the total number of hours expended were 715.10 and the outstanding costs incurred in this case total \$463.40, which were reasonable, and in fact necessary, in light of the nature of the case and the aggressive litigation tactics of the parties, (ii) that the hourly rates of the BHFS' attorneys are well within the range of prevailing market rates in the Las Vegas

area, and (iii) that the costs represented therein were actually incurred by BHFS on behalf of Ms. Ahern in this matter, and the invoices for fees and costs were actually billed to Ms. Ahern in this matter. (*See id*). The third factor was, therefore, satisfied. Thus, there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the District Court.

Fourth and finally, the result of the work performed by BHFS on behalf of Ms. Ahern was self-evident. That is, BHFS defeated a motion to hold Ms. Ahern in contempt, a motion to forfeit her interest in the trust and a motion to impose punitive damages. (AR 8583). This successful result, together with the other *Brunzell* factors, provided ample support for the District Court's adjudication of the rights of the parties as it relates to the Lien and the outstanding invoices Ms. Ahern failed to pay. *See Brunzell*, 85 Nev. at 349, 455 P.2d at 33.

In its Order, the District Court properly addressed and dismissed each of the Successor Trustee's arguments relating to the ability of the Lien to attach to Ms. Ahern's beneficial interest in the Trust, and supported its decision to grant the fees sought by performing an analysis of each of the *Brunzell* factors discussed herein. (AR 8662-65). As such, the District Court did not engage in any manifest abuse of discretion in finding that BHFS' attorneys' fees were reasonable. The Order and Judgment should not be disturbed.

#### IX. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing, BHFS respectfully requests that this Court refuse to grant any and all relief sought in the Informal Brief and affirm the District Court's Order and Judgment in their entirety.

Dated this 22<sup>nd</sup> day of December, 2017.

#### BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By: /s/ Kirk B. Lenhard\_

KIRK B. LENHARD, ESQ., Bar No. 1437

100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600

Las Vegas, NV 89106-4614

Telephone: 702.382.2101

Facsimile: 702.382.8135

Attorneys for Respondent

Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP

#### NRAP 32(a)(9)(C) CERTIFICATE

- 1. I hereby certify that this brief complies with the formatting requirements of NRAP 32(a)(4), the typeface requirements of NRAP 32(a)(5) and the type style requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because:
  - [X] This brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word, Version 2010 in 14-point Times New Roman font; or
  - [ ] This brief has been prepared in a monospaced typeface using [state name and version of word-processing program] with [state number of characters per inch and name of type style].
- 2. I further certify that this brief complies with the page- or type-volume limitations of NRAP 32(a)(7) because, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by NRAP 32(a)(7)(C), it is either:
  - [X] Proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or more, and contains 5,988 words; or
  - [ ] Monospaced, has 10.5 or fewer characters per inch, and contains \_\_\_\_ words or \_\_\_\_ lines of text; or
  - [ ] Does not exceed \_\_\_\_\_ pages.
- 3. Finally, I hereby certify that I have read this appellate brief, and to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, it is not frivolous or interposed for any improper purpose. I further certify that this brief complies with all applicable Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, in particular NRAP 28(e)(1), which requires every assertion in the brief regarding matters in the record to be

supported by a reference to the page and volume number, if any, of the transcript or appendix where the matter relied on is to be found. I understand that I may be subject to sanctions in the event that the accompanying brief is not in conformity with the requirements of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

DATED this 22<sup>nd</sup> day of December, 2017.

#### BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

BY: /s/ Kirk B. Lenhard

Kirk B. Lenhard, Esq., NV Bar No. 1437

klenhard@bhfs.com

100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600

Las Vegas, NV 89106-4614

Telephone: 702.382.2101

Facsimile: 702.382.8135